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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements concerning our business, operations and financial performance and 
condition, as well as our plans, objectives and expectations for our business, operations and financial performance and condition. Any statements contained 
herein that are not statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties related to the global COVID-19 pandemic and other important factors that are in some cases beyond our control and may cause our actual 
results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “contemplate,” 
“continue,” “could,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” “positioned,” “seek,” “should,” 
“target,” “will,” “would,” and other similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends, or the negative of these terms or 
other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about: 

• our expectations with regard to the results of our clinical studies, preclinical studies and research and development programs, including the 
timing and availability of data from such studies;

• the timing of commencement of future nonclinical studies and clinical trials and research and development programs;

• our clinical and regulatory development plans;

• our expectations regarding the potential market size and size of the potential patient populations for our single-agent and combination therapy 
candidates and any future single-agent and combination therapy candidates if approved for commercial use;

• our ability to acquire, discover, develop and advance single-agent and combination therapy candidates into, and successfully complete, 
clinical trials;

• our intentions and our ability to establish collaborations and/or partnerships;

• the timing or likelihood of regulatory filings and approvals for our single-agent and combination therapy candidates;

• our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and expectations;

• our intentions with respect to the commercialization of our single-agent and combination therapy candidates;

• the pricing and reimbursement of our single-agent and combination therapy candidates, if approved;

• the potential effects of COVID-19 on our preclinical and clinical programs and business;

• the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business and single-agent and combination therapy candidates, 
including additional indications for which we may pursue;

• the scope of protection we are able to establish, maintain, protect and enforce for intellectual property rights covering our single-agent and 
combination therapy candidates including the projected terms of patent protection;

• estimates of our expenses, future revenue, capital requirements, our needs for additional financing and our ability to obtain additional capital 
and the timing of the sufficiency of our capital resources;

• our future financial performance; and

• developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing products.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited).

Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited; in thousands, except share and per share data)
 

  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 43,879   $ 47,699  
Marketable securities   107,389    118,283  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,843    948  

Total current assets   154,111    166,930  
Property and equipment, net   1,110    1,046  
Operating lease assets   1,376    —  
Other assets   72    94  

Total assets  $ 156,669   $ 168,070  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 1,678   $ 2,126  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   3,903    4,694  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   584    —  

Total current liabilities   6,165    6,820  
Deferred rent, net of current portion   —    160  
Taxes payable, non-current   788    787  
Operating lease liabilities, non-current   1,000    —  

Total liabilities   7,953    7,767  
Commitments and contingencies       
Stockholders’ equity:       

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 150,000,000 shares
   authorized at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021;
   25,269,271 shares issued and outstanding at
   March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021   3    3  
Additional paid-in capital   345,455    342,711  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (896 )   (338 )
Accumulated deficit   (195,846 )   (182,073 )

Total stockholders’ equity   148,716    160,303  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 156,669   $ 168,070  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited; in thousands, except share and per share data)

 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2022   2021  
Operating expenses:       

Research and development  $ 8,136   $ 8,735  
General and administrative   5,689    4,561  

Total operating expenses   13,825    13,296  
Loss from operations   (13,825 )   (13,296 )
Other income (expense):       

Interest income   69    11  
Other income (expense), net   4    (13 )

Total other income (expense), net   73    (2 )
Loss before income taxes   (13,752 )   (13,298 )

Income tax expense   (21 )   (39 )
Net loss  $ (13,773 )  $ (13,337 )
        
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.55 )  $ (0.88 )
Weighted average common stock outstanding, basic and diluted   25,269,271    15,160,046  
        
Other comprehensive loss:       
Net loss  $ (13,773 )  $ (13,337 )

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net of tax   (551 )   (43 )
Foreign exchange translation adjustment, net of tax   (7 )   (65 )

Comprehensive loss  $ (14,331 )  $ (13,445 )
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited; in thousands, except share data)

 
Three Months Ended March 31, 2022  

  

Series A
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Series B
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Series C
Convertible

Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount    Shares   Amount   Capital   Loss   Deficit   Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2021   —   $ —    —   $ —    —   $ —     25,269,271   $ 3   $ 342,711   $ (338 ) $ (182,073 ) $ 160,303  
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    2,744    —    —    2,744  
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    (551 )  —    (551 )
Foreign exchange translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    (7 )  —    (7 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    —    (13,773 )  (13,773 )
Balances at March 31, 2022   —   $ —    —   $ —    —   $ —     25,269,271   $ 3   $ 345,455   $ (896 ) $ (195,846 ) $ 148,716  

                                      
Three Months Ended March 31, 2021  

  

Series A
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Series B
Convertible

Preferred Stock   

Series C
Convertible

Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’  

  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount    Shares   Amount   Capital   Loss   Deficit   
(Deficit) 
Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2020   2,857,142   $ 30,000    2,600,645   $ 68,995    7,500,665   $ 87,038     337,508   $ —   $ 14,598   $ (124 ) $ (131,915 ) $ (117,441 )
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock 
upon closing of the initial public offering   (2,857,142 )   (30,000 )   (2,600,645 )   (68,995 )   (7,500,665 )   (87,038 )   16,079,230    2    186,031    —    —    186,033  
Sale of common stock in initial public offering, net 
of issuance costs of $3,339   —    —    —    —    —    —     8,625,000    1    133,022    —    —    133,023  
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    1,832    —    —    1,832  
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    (43 )  —    (43 )
Foreign exchange translation adjustment   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    (65 )  —    (65 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    —    —     —    —    —    —    (13,337 )  (13,337 )
Balances at March 31, 2021   —   $ —    —   $ —    —   $ —     25,041,738   $ 3   $ 335,483   $ (232 ) $ (145,252 ) $ 190,002  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited; in thousands)

 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2022   2021  
Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net loss  $ (13,773 )  $ (13,337 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:       

Stock-based compensation expense   2,744    1,832  
Depreciation and amortization expense   141    172  
Amortization (accretion) on marketable securities   613    (3 )
Change in deferred taxes and uncertain tax positions   21    16  
Amortization of operating lease assets   137    —  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (1,893 )   (1,254 )
Other assets   —    6  
Accounts payable   (410 )   2,208  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (731 )   (3,944 )
Operating lease liabilities   (149 )   —  
Deferred rent   —    (12 )

Net cash used in operating activities   (13,300 )   (14,316 )
Cash flows from investing activities:       
Purchase of property and equipment   (242 )   (24 )
Purchase of investments   (24,434 )   (96,792 )
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments   34,164    —  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   9,488    (96,816 )
Cash flows from financing activities:       
Net proceeds from initial public offering   —    136,362  
Proceeds from notes receivable   —    12,718  
Payment of loans payable   —    (12,880 )
Payment of deferred offering costs   —    (1,031 )

Net cash provided by financing activities   —    135,169  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (8 )   (62 )
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (3,820 )   23,975  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   47,699    74,854  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 43,879   $ 98,829  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:       
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities  $ 166   $ —  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:       
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities  $ 1,513   $ —  
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock upon closing of the initial public offering  $ —   $ 186,033  
Deferred offering costs within accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ —   $ 825  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

1.       Organization, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Terns) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a portfolio of small-molecule single-agent and 
combination therapy candidates to address serious diseases such as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), obesity and cancer. 

Terns was incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands in December 2016. In December 2020, the Company effected a de-
registration of the Company in the Cayman Islands and a domestication in the State of Delaware (the "Domestication"), pursuant to which it became a 
Delaware corporation. Terns owns all of the share capital of Terns Pharmaceutical HongKong Limited (Terns Hong Kong) and Terns, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation (Terns U.S. Opco). Terns Hong Kong holds all of the share capital of Terns China Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (organized in Shanghai, People’s 
Republic of China (PRC)) (Terns China) and Terns (Suzhou) Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (organized in Suzhou, PRC) (Terns Suzhou). 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of Terns and its wholly owned subsidiaries Terns U.S. Opco and Terns Hong Kong and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries Terns China and Terns Suzhou. The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity 
with U.S. GAAP. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Initial Public Offering

In February 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (the “IPO”) of 8,625,000 shares of its common stock, including the exercise in 
full by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to 1,125,000 additional shares of common stock, for net proceeds of $133.0 million, after deducting 
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses, and its shares started trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol 
“TERN.” Upon closing of the IPO, all of the Company's outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock automatically converted into an aggregate of 
16,079,230 shares of common stock.

At-the-Market Offering

In March 2022, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC, or Cowen, as sales agent, pursuant to which the 
Company has the ability to offer and sell, from time to time, through Cowen, shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 
million in an at-the-market offering. The shares are offered pursuant to the Company's shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, or SEC. There were no sales of the Company's common stock pursuant to this agreement through March 31, 2022.

Certificate of Incorporation

Prior to the IPO, the Company’s certificate of incorporation adopted in December 2020 in connection with the Domestication (the “December 2020 
Charter”) authorized the Company to issue the following shares of capital stock: (i) 299,700,000 shares of common stock, (ii) 40,000,000 shares of Series 
A convertible preferred stock, (iii) 36,409,088 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock, and (iii) 111,619,996 shares of Series C convertible preferred 
stock. All classes of stock under the December 2020 Charter were authorized at a par value of $0.0001.

In February 2021, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware became 
effective in connection with the closing of the IPO. Under the amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 
150,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. All classes of stock have a par value of $0.0001.

Reverse Stock Split 

In January 2021, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation to effectuate a reverse split of shares of the Company’s 
common stock and convertible preferred stock on a 1-for-14 basis (the “Reverse Stock Split”). The par value and the number of authorized shares of the 
convertible preferred stock and common stock were not adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. All issued and outstanding common stock, options 
to purchase common stock and per share amounts contained in the consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the 
Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented. 
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Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic is rapidly evolving. The COVID-19 virus and new variants that emerge continue to impact countries worldwide, 
including the United States and China where the Company has business operations. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on business, 
operations and development timelines and plans remains uncertain, and will depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the 
outbreak and its impact on the Company’s development activities, planned clinical trial enrollment, future trial sites, contract research organizations 
(CROs), third-party manufacturers and other third parties with whom the Company conducts business, as well as its impact on regulatory authorities and 
the Company’s key scientific and management personnel. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain 
and subject to change. To the extent possible, the Company is conducting business as usual, with necessary or advisable modifications to employee travel 
and to the on-site and in-person activities of the Company's personnel. The Company will continue to actively monitor the rapidly evolving situation related 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter the Company’s operations, including those that may be required by federal, state or local 
authorities in the United States and China, or that the Company determines are in the best interest of its employees and other third parties with whom the 
Company conducts business. At this point, the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may affect the Company’s business, operations and development 
timelines and plans, including the resulting impact on expenditures and capital needs, remains uncertain.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Significant 
estimates and assumptions made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the estimates for accruals of 
research and development expenses, accrual of research contract costs, unrecognized tax benefits, fair value of common stock and stock option valuations. 
On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates and judgments, using historical and anticipated results and trends and on various other 
assumptions that management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include all adjustments necessary, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, to 
fairly state the financial position and the results of the Company’s operations and cash flows for interim periods in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Interim 
period results are not necessarily indicative of results of operations or cash flows for a full year or any subsequent interim period. The accompanying 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the 
notes thereto in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, as filed with the SEC on 
March 7, 2022. There have been no significant changes to the Company's significant accounting policies described in Note 1, Organization, Basis of 
Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of the Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of standard checking accounts and money market funds. The Company considers all highly liquid investments 
with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

The Company classifies as available-for-sale marketable securities with a remaining maturity when purchased of greater than three months. The 
Company’s marketable securities are maintained by investment managers and consist of U.S. government and non-U.S. government securities, corporate 
debt securities, and commercial paper. Debt securities are carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses included in other comprehensive loss as 
a component of stockholders’ equity until realized. Any premium arising at purchase is amortized to the earliest call date and any discount arising at 
purchase is accreted to maturity. Amortization and accretion of premiums and discounts are recorded in interest income and/or expense. Realized gains and 
losses on debt securities are determined using the specific identification method and are included in other income (expense), net.

If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in value of the investment, the Company considers all available evidence to evaluate the extent to 
which the decline is “other-than-temporary” and, if so, marks the investment to market through a charge to the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss.
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The fair value and amortized cost of marketable securities by major security type is as follows:
 

  March 31, 2022  
(in thousands)  Amortized Cost   Unrealized Gains   Unrealized Losses   Fair Value  
Money market funds  $ 28,649   $ —   $ —   $ 28,649  
U.S. government securities   50,197    —    (569 )   49,628  
Non-U.S. government securities   7,056    —    (41 )   7,015  
Corporate debt securities   24,430    —    (135 )   24,295  
Commercial paper   26,451    —    —    26,451  
Total  $ 136,783   $ —   $ (745 )  $ 136,038  
             
Classified as:             
Cash equivalents           $ 28,649  
Marketable securities            107,389  
Total           $ 136,038  
             

  December 31, 2021  
(in thousands)  Amortized Cost   Unrealized Gains   Unrealized Losses   Fair Value  
Money market funds  $ 33,239   $ —   $ —   $ 33,239  
U.S. government securities   36,322    —    (130 )   36,192  
Non-U.S. government securities   11,194    —    (12 )   11,182  
Corporate debt securities   39,495    —    (52 )   39,443  
Commercial paper   31,466    —    —    31,466  
Total  $ 151,716   $ —   $ (194 )  $ 151,522  
             
Classified as:             
Cash equivalents           $ 33,239  
Marketable securities            118,283  
Total           $ 151,522  

 

Operating Leases and Rent Expense

At the inception of a contractual arrangement, the Company determines whether the contract contains a lease by assessing whether there is an 
identified asset and whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of the identified asset in exchange for consideration over a period of time. If 
both criteria are met, upon lease commencement, the Company records a lease liability which represents the Company’s obligation to make lease payments 
arising from the lease, and a corresponding right-of-use (“ROU”) asset which represents the Company’s right to use an underlying asset during the lease 
term.

Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet at the lease commencement date based on the present value of 
the future minimum lease payments over the lease term. In determining the net present value of the lease payments, the Company uses its incremental 
borrowing rate applicable to the underlying asset unless the implicit rate is readily determinable. Any lease incentives received are deferred and recorded as 
a reduction of the ROU asset and amortized over the term of the lease. The Company does not separate lease and non-lease components and instead treats 
them as a single component. Rent expense, comprised of amortization of the ROU asset and the implicit interest accreted on the operating lease liability, is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company determines the lease term as the noncancellable period of the lease and may include 
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options.

The Company elected to not apply the recognition requirements of the new leasing standard to short term leases with terms of 12 months or less. As 
a result, leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the balance sheet.
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Classification of Convertible Preferred Stock

The holders of Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock, which were outstanding prior to the IPO, had certain liquidation rights in 
the event of a deemed liquidation that, in certain situations, were not solely within the control of the Company and would call for the redemption of the 
then outstanding convertible preferred stock. Therefore, the Series A, Series B and Series C convertible preferred stock were classified outside of 
shareholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheets. In February 2021, upon the completion of the IPO, all the outstanding shares of convertible 
preferred stock converted into common stock and the Company does not have any shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred to discover, research and 
develop drug candidates, including personnel expenses, stock-based compensation expense, allocated facility-related and depreciation expenses, third-party 
license fees and external costs, including fees paid to consultants and contract research organizations, or CROs, in connection with nonclinical studies and 
clinical trials and other related clinical trial fees, such as for investigator grants, patient screening, laboratory work, clinical trial database management, 
clinical trial material management and statistical compilation and analysis. Non-refundable prepayments for goods or services that will be used or rendered 
for future research and development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses. Such amounts are recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or 
the related services are performed, or until it is no longer expected that the goods will be delivered, or the services rendered. Costs incurred in obtaining 
technology licenses are charged immediately to research and development expense if the technology licensed has not reached technological feasibility and 
has no alternative future uses.

The Company has from time to time entered into various research and development and other agreements with commercial firms, researchers, 
universities and others for provisions of goods and services. These agreements are generally cancelable, and the related costs are recorded as research and 
development expenses as incurred. The Company records accruals for estimated ongoing research and development costs. When evaluating the adequacy 
of the accrued liabilities, the Company analyzes progress of the studies or clinical trials, including the phase or completion of events, invoices received and 
contracted costs. Significant judgments and estimates are made in determining the accrued balances at the end of any reporting period. Actual results could 
differ materially from the Company’s estimates. Since inception, the Company’s historical accrual estimates have not been materially different from the 
actual costs.

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities included the following: 
 
(in thousands)  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Research and development costs  $ 1,883   $ 1,570  
Compensation and benefit costs   679    2,403  
Accrued professional fees   1,070    363  
Other   271    358  
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 3,903   $ 4,694  
 
Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes primarily relates to projected federal, state, and foreign income taxes. To determine the quarterly provision for 
income taxes, the Company uses an estimated annual effective tax rate, which is generally based on expected annual income and statutory tax rates in the 
various jurisdictions in which the Company operates. In addition, the tax effects of certain significant or unusual items are recognized discretely in the 
quarter during which they occur and can be a source of variability in the effective tax rates from quarter to quarter. 

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected 
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements. In estimating future tax consequences, the Company 
considers all expected future events including the enactment of changes in tax laws or rates. A valuation allowance is recorded, if necessary, to reduce net 
deferred tax assets to their realizable values if management does not believe it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized. In 
making such a determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary 
differences, projected future taxable income, and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the amount of the valuation allowance. 
When the Company establishes or reduces the valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, its provision for income taxes will increase or decrease, 
respectively, in the period such determination is made.
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The Company assesses accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by modeling for the recognition, measurement and disclosure in financial 
statements any uncertain income tax positions that the Company has taken or expects to take on a tax return. As of each balance sheet date, unresolved 
uncertain tax positions are reassessed. The Company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have been 
established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. The Company includes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the provision 
for income taxes. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the total amount of gross interest accrued and penalties was nominal.  

The Company recorded income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 of less than $0.1 million. The expenses are 
primarily related to foreign income tax expenses from China.

Common Stock Valuation

Due to the absence of an active market for the Company’s common stock prior to the completion of the IPO in February 2021, the Company utilized 
methodologies to estimate the fair value of its common stock. In determining the fair value of options granted prior to the IPO, the Company has 
considered the estimated fair value of the common stock as of the measurement date. The estimated fair value of the common stock prior to the IPO was 
determined at each grant date based upon a variety of factors, including:

• the prices at which the Company sold shares of convertible preferred stock and the superior rights and preferences of the convertible 
preferred stock relative to its common stock at the time of each grant;

• the progress of the Company’s research and development programs, including the status and results of clinical and nonclinical studies for its 
drugs;

• the Company’s stage of development and commercialization and its business strategy;

• external market conditions affecting the biotechnology industry and trends within the biotechnology industry;

• the Company’s financial position, including cash on hand, and its historical and forecasted performance and operating results;

• the lack of an active public market for the Company’s common stock and convertible preferred stock;

• the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO or sale of the Company in light of prevailing market conditions; and

• the analysis of IPOs and the market performance of similar companies in the biotechnology industry.

Significant changes to the key assumptions underlying the factors used could have resulted in different fair values of common stock at each 
valuation date.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances 
from non-owner sources.   

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense, including grants of stock options and restricted stock awards issued under the Company’s equity incentive plan 
and rights to acquire stock granted under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan (ESPP), is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the 
awards and is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The Company’s 
determination of the fair value of stock options with time-based vesting and rights to acquire stock under the ESPP utilizes the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The Company lacks sufficient company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it estimates its expected stock 
volatility based on the historical volatility of a publicly traded set of peer companies and expects to continue to do so until such time as it has adequate 
historical data regarding the volatility of its own traded stock price. The Company estimates risk-free rates using the implied yield currently available on 
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equal to the expected term and dividend yield using the Company’s expectations and historical 
data. The Company uses the simplified method to calculate the expected term of stock option grants. Under the simplified method, the expected term is 
estimated to be the mid-point between the vesting date and the contractual term of the option. The fair value of each stock option grant and right to acquire 
stock under the ESPP is calculated based upon the Company’s common stock valuation on the date of the grant. The Company accounts for forfeitures of 
stock option grants as they occur.
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Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net income (loss) per share of common stock as the Company has issued shares that 
meet the definition of participating securities. The two-class method determines net income (loss) per share of common stock for each class of common and 
participating securities according to dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires 
income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common and participating securities based upon their respective rights to 
receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed.

Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock is computed by dividing the net income (loss) per share of common stock by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock is computed by adjusting net 
income (loss) to reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share of common stock is 
computed by dividing the diluted net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, including potential 
dilutive shares. For purposes of this calculation, outstanding stock options and convertible preferred stock are considered potential dilutive shares.

The Company’s convertible preferred stock outstanding prior to the IPO contractually entitled the holders of such shares to participate in dividends 
but did not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in losses of the Company. Accordingly, in periods in which the Company reported 
a net loss, such losses were not allocated to such securities. In periods in which the Company reported a net loss, diluted net loss per share of common 
stock was the same as basic net loss per share of common stock, since dilutive shares were not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive. 
The Company reported a net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 
The Company excluded the following potential shares of common stock, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the 

computation of diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per share of common stock for the periods indicated because including them would 
have had an anti-dilutive effect:

  
  March 31,  
  2022   2021  

Options to purchase common stock   4,308,952    2,544,778  
Unvested shares of restricted stock units   74,830    —  
Restricted common stock   —    71,429  
Shares issuable under employee stock purchase plan   59,247    —  
Total   4,443,029    2,616,207  

Deferred Offering Costs 

The Company capitalizes certain legal, professional accounting and other third-party fees that are directly associated with in-process equity 
financings as deferred offering costs until such financings are consummated. 

After consummation of the equity financing, these costs are recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of stockholders’ equity  as a reduction of 
additional paid-in capital or equity generated as a result of such offering. Should an in-process equity financing be abandoned, the deferred offering costs 
will be expensed immediately as a charge to operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company accrues a 
liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made, and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. For all periods 
presented, the Company was not a party to any pending material litigation or other material legal proceedings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies. The Company is an emerging growth 
company as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended (JOBS Act). Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies have 
extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised accounting standards. The Company has elected to use this exemption to delay 
adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. Where allowable, the Company has early 
adopted certain standards as described below.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02), which sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e., lessees and lessors). The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual 
approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the 
lessee. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the lease. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of 
their classification. Leases with a term of 12 months or less may be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating leases today. For non-public 
entities, ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021, and early 
adoption is permitted. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies have extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised 
accounting standards. 

The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2022 using the effective date as the date of initial application. Consequently, prior period 
amounts were not adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with historical accounting policies under ASC 840: Leases (Topic 840). The 
Company elected the package of practical expedients under which the Company has not reassessed prior conclusions about lease identification, lease 
classification and initial direct costs. Additionally, the Company made a policy election that does not recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities related to 
leases with a term of 12 months or less. The Company has elected to not separate lease and non-lease components and instead treat them as a single 
component. The pattern of recognition for operating leases within the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss has not significantly changed. Upon 
adoption, the Company recognized operating liabilities of $1.7 million, with corresponding ROU assets of $1.5 million based on the present value of the 
remaining minimum rental payments under current leasing standards for existing operating leases. The Company’s current operating lease portfolio is 
primarily comprised of property leases.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments (ASU 2016-13), which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. ASU 
2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of credit 
losses. For non-public entities, ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual reporting periods, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after 
December 15, 2022. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies have extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised 
accounting standards. The Company has elected to use this exemption to delay adopting ASU 2016-13. The Company is currently in the process of 
evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-13 on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.  

2.       Fair Value
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are defined below:

• Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

• Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, such as quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable 
market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets 
or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The carrying values of the Company’s other assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their fair values 
due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

11



 
The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

 
  Fair Value at March 31, 2022  

(in thousands)  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Cash and cash equivalents             

Cash in bank balances  $ 15,230   $ —   $ —   $ 15,230  
Money market funds   28,649    —    —    28,649  

Total cash and cash equivalents  $ 43,879   $ —   $ —   $ 43,879  
Marketable securities             

U.S. government securities  $ —   $ 49,628   $ —   $ 49,628  
Non-U.S. government securities   —    7,015    —    7,015  
Corporate debt securities   —    24,295    —    24,295  
Commercial paper   —    26,451    —    26,451  

Total marketable securities  $ —   $ 107,389   $ —   $ 107,389  
             
  Fair Value at December 31, 2021  
(in thousands)  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Cash and cash equivalents             
Cash in bank balances  $ 14,460   $ —   $ —   $ 14,460  
Money market funds   33,239    —    —    33,239  

Total cash and equivalents  $ 47,699   $ —   $ —   $ 47,699  
Marketable securities             
U.S. government securities  $ —   $ 36,192   $ —   $ 36,192  
Non-U.S. government securities   —    11,182    —    11,182  
Corporate debt securities   —    39,443    —    39,443  
Commercial paper   —    31,466    —    31,466  

Total marketable securities  $ —   $ 118,283   $ —   $ 118,283  

 
The aggregate amortized cost and fair value of marketable securities as of March 31, 2022, by contractual maturity, are as follows:

 
(in thousands)  Amortized Cost   Fair Value  
Due in one year or less  $ 91,157   $ 90,675  
Due after one year through two years   16,977    16,714  
Total marketable securities  $ 108,134   $ 107,389  

 
There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the periods presented.

3.       Leases
 

In March 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office space in Foster City, California which expires October 2024. The Company 
has the option to extend the lease agreement for a period of five years. In June 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office space in 
Suzhou China, which expires in October 2022. 

 
Components of lease cost are as follows:
 

  Three Months Ended  
(in thousands)  March 31, 2022  
Operating lease cost  $ 154  
Short-term cost   15  
Total lease cost  $ 169  
    
Weighted-average remaining lease term   2.55  
Weighted-average discount rate   6.00 %
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The Company's future minimum lease payments are as follows:
 

(in thousands)  Operating Leases  
2022  $ 502  
2023   652  
2024   559  
2025 and thereafter   —  
Total lease payments   1,713  
Less: Imputed interest   (129 )
Present value of lease liabilities   1,584  
Less: Current portion of lease liabilities   (584 )
Total lease liabilities, non-current  $ 1,000  
 

The future minimum annual lease payments required under the Company’s existing operating lease agreements as of December 31, 2021 prior to the 
adoption of ASC 842 were as follows:

 
(in thousands)  Operating Leases  
2022  $ 669  
2023   652  
2024   559  
2025 and thereafter   —  
Total  $ 1,880  
 

4.       Loans Payable

2020 Notes 

In May 2020, the Company issued convertible promissory notes (2020 Notes) in the aggregate amount of $15.0 million. The 2020 Notes had an 
interest rate of 10.0% per annum, were unsecured, and were due and payable, including accrued interest, in May 2021. In connection with the Series C 
Convertible Preferred Stock Financing, the 2020 Notes, totaling unpaid principal and accrued interest of $15.9 million, converted into 1,366,820 shares of 
Series C convertible preferred stock.

Bridge Loan 

In May 2020, the Company entered into a bridge loan with Terns China (Bridge Loan) for aggregate proceeds of $1.8 million, payable in renminbi 
(RMB) at an established USD/RMB exchange rate, based on an average of the previous five working days before May 8, 2020. The Bridge Loan had an 
interest rate of 10% per year, which began to accrue on the date of drawdown, and was computed based on the actual number of days elapsed based on a 
year of 365 days. The Bridge Loan holders have the same conversion rights as the 2020 Notes holders. 

In connection with the closing of the Series C convertible preferred stock financing in December 2020, entities that are a part of LAV agreed to 
effectively convert the Bridge Loan into shares of Series C preferred stock on the same terms as the 2020 Notes. The conversion was to be based on an 
outstanding loan balance equal to $1.9 million, consisting of (i) the principal loan amount ($1.8 million) plus (ii) accrued interest through December 29, 
2020 ($0.1 million).

To help facilitate the transfer of cash from China to the United States to effectively convert the Bridge Loan, the Company and Terns China agreed 
to enter into an agreement with LAV to (i) repay the Bridge Loan, and (ii) issue shares of Series C convertible preferred stock at the initial closing of the 
Series C financing to entities that are a part of LAV in exchange for a promissory note issued to the Company by LAV, or the LAV Affiliate Promissory 
Note.

The Bridge Loan was repaid in full by the Company following the requisite government approvals in China. Proceeds from the repayment of the 
Bridge Loan by Terns China were used by LAV to repay the LAV Affiliate Promissory Note in full. The fair value of the Bridge Loan was determined to be 
$2.1 million as of December 31, 2020. The Bridge Loan and the LAV Affiliate Promissory Note were paid in full in March 2021.

LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Notes
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In November 2020, the Chinese government provided approval for entities affiliated with LAV to exercise the LAV Option (see Note 5, Convertible 
Preferred Stock). Terns Hong Kong agreed to repurchase all equity interests held by the LAV PRC Entities with proceeds to be used by LAV to purchase 
shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock of the Company (Repurchase).

In December 2020, the Company issued 767,857 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and 216,450 shares of Series B convertible preferred 
stock to an affiliate of LAV (LAV Affiliate) in exchange for a promissory note with a principal amount equal to the original investment by LAV in Terns 
China (LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Note). The LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Note was repaid through proceeds of the Repurchase 
which was completed in January 2021.

Prior to their repayment, the carrying value of the LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Notes approximated their respective fair value due to the 
short-term nature of the liability. 

The outstanding LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Note was settled in January 2021 and was paid with the proceeds received from the note 
receivable of $10.8 million. The outstanding Bridge Loan was settled in March 2021 and was substantially paid with the proceeds received from the LAV 
Affiliate Promissory Note receivable of $1.9 million.

5.       Convertible Preferred Stock 

All shares of preferred stock described below were converted into 16,079,230 shares of the Company’s common stock at the time of the IPO in 
February 2021.

Series A Preferred Stock

In April 2017, the Company entered into a Series A convertible preferred stock purchase agreement (Series A Agreement) whereby the Company 
issued 2,089,285 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock at $10.50 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $21.9 million.

Terns China received an aggregate $8.0 million from the LAV PRC Entities in connection with the Series A financing, which was presented as a 
noncontrolling interest. In connection with the Series A Agreement and this Terns China investment, the Company also issued an option to the LAV PRC 
Entities to convert their interest in the China Subsidiaries into an interest in Terns Cayman (the LAV Option). 

Series B Preferred Stock

In October 2018, the Company entered into a Series B convertible preferred share purchase agreement (Series B Agreement), whereby the Company 
issued an aggregate of 2,384,195 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock at $30.80 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $73.4 million. 

Terns China received $6.7 million from the LAV PRC Entities in connection with the Series B financing, which was presented as a noncontrolling 
interest. In connection with the Series B Agreement and this Terns China investment, the LAV Option was to allow the LAV PRC Entities to convert this 
interest in the China Subsidiaries into an interest in Terns Cayman. 

LAV Series A and Series B Preferred Stock Options

In November 2020, the Chinese government provided approval for entities affiliated with Lilly Asia Ventures (LAV) to exercise the LAV Option. 
Terns Hong Kong agreed to repurchase all equity interests held by the LAV PRC Entities with proceeds to be used by LAV to purchase shares of Series A 
convertible preferred stock and Series B convertible preferred stock of the Company (Repurchase).

In December 2020, the Company issued 767,857 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and 216,450 shares of Series B convertible preferred 
stock to an affiliate of LAV (LAV Affiliate) in exchange for a promissory note with a principal amount equal to the original investment by LAV in Terns 
China (LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Note). The LAV Series A and Series B Promissory Note was repaid through proceeds of the Repurchase 
which was completed in January 2021.
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Series C Preferred Stock

In December 2020, the Company entered into a Series C preferred stock purchase agreement (Series C Convertible Preferred Stock Financing) 
whereby it issued an aggregate of 7,500,665 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock at $11.65 per share for gross proceeds of $87.4 million, which 
includes shares issued upon conversion of the 2020 Notes.

In connection with the Series C Convertible Preferred Stock Financing, the 2020 Notes, totaling unpaid principal and accrued interest of $15.9 
million, converted into 1,366,820 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. Furthermore, in December 2020, as part of the effective conversion of the 
Bridge Loan, the Company issued LAV an aggregate of 167,159 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock. 

Series A convertible preferred stock, Series B convertible preferred stock and Series C convertible preferred stock are collectively referred to as 
“convertible preferred stock.” 

In connection with the IPO, all the outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock converted into common stock and the Company does not have 
any shares of preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2022.

6.       Common Stock and Stock-Based Compensation

As of each balance sheet date, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for issuance in connection with the following:  
 

  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Options outstanding under incentive award plans   4,308,952    3,577,485  
Unvested shares of restricted stock units   74,830    —  
Shares available for future grant under incentive award plans   1,595,788    1,138,622  
Shares available for future grant under employee stock purchase plans   492,692    240,000  
Total shares reserved   6,472,262    4,956,107  
 

Each share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. Common stockholders 
are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Company’s board of directors, subject to the preferential dividend rights of the 
convertible preferred stock. Through March 31, 2022, no cash dividends have been declared or paid by the Company. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

 The Company has two stock-based compensation plans, the 2017 Incentive Award Plan (the “2017 Plan”) and the 2021 Incentive Award Plan (the 
“2021 Plan”) which was adopted in February 2021. Although awards made under the 2017 Plan continue to be governed by its terms, the 2017 Plan was 
terminated at the time of our IPO and no further awards are made under this plan. The 2021 Plan, while effective, authorizes the granting of equity awards 
to employees and directors of the Company, as well as non-employee consultants. 

2021 Incentive Award Plan

In January 2021, the Company's board of directors approved the 2021 Plan which permits the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock 
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance bonus awards, performance stock unit awards and 
other stock awards to employees, directors, officers and consultants. In February 2021, 2,400,007 shares were authorized for issuance under the 2021 Plan, 
which shall be cumulatively increased on the first day of each year beginning in 2022 and ending in 2031 equal to the lesser of (i) the amount equal to 5% 
of the number of shares issued and outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year or (ii) such lower number of shares as may be 
determined by the Company’s board of directors. The 2021 Plan is the successor to the 2017 Incentive Award Plan and no additional awards may be issued 
from the 2017 Plan. However, the 2017 Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards granted under this plan. Shares of 
common stock subject to awards granted under the 2017 Plan that are forfeited or lapse unexercised and which following the effective date of the 2021 Plan 
are not issued under the 2017 Plan will be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. The number of authorized shares reserved for issuance under the 
2021 Plan was increased by 1,263,463 shares effective as of January 1, 2022. As of March 31, 2022, 1,595,788 shares of the Company’s common stock 
were available for future grants under the 2021 Plan.
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2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2021 ESPP”) was approved by the Company’s board of directors in January 2021. In February 2021, 
a total of 240,000 shares were initially reserved for issuance under this plan, which shall be cumulatively increased on the first day of each year beginning 
in 2022 and ending in 2031 equal to the lesser of (i) 1% of the shares outstanding (on an as converted basis) on the last day of the immediately preceding 
fiscal year and (ii) such number of shares as may be determined by the Company’s board of directors. The number of authorized shares reserved for 
issuance under the 2021 ESPP was increased by 252,692 shares effective as of January 1, 2022. As of March 31, 2022, 492,692 shares of the Company’s 
common stock were available for future grants under the 2021 ESPP. 

Under the ESPP, eligible employees may select a rate of payroll deduction up to 15% of their eligible compensation subject to certain maximum 
purchase limitations. The duration for each offering period is 12 months and is divided into two purchase periods of approximately six months in length. 
Offerings are concurrent. The purchase price of the shares under the offering is the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of the shares on the offering date 
or 85% of the fair market value of the shares on the purchase date. A one-year look-back feature in the ESPP causes the offering period to automatically 
reset if the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the last day of the purchase period is less than that on the original offering date. ESPP purchases 
by employees are settled with newly-issued common stock from the ESPP’s previously authorized and available pool of shares.

As of March 31, 2022, there was $0.1 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested employee stock purchases. 
The unrecognized stock-based compensation expense is estimated to be recognized over a period of 0.67 years as of March 31, 2022. There were no shares 
purchased by employees under the ESPP during the period ended March 31, 2022. 

Stock Options

Stock options granted to employees and nonemployees under the plans generally vest over four years and allow the holder of the option to purchase 
common stock at a stated exercise price. Options granted under the plans generally expire ten years after the date of grant. The Company recognizes the 
stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the individual grantees, which generally equals the vesting period.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for all stock plans during the three months ended March 31, 2022: 
 

  
Number
of Shares   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
        (in years)   (in thousands)  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021   3,577,485   $ 9.72    9.09   $ 491  
Granted   776,520    5.78        
Forfeited   (45,053 )   11.22        
Outstanding as of March 31, 2022   4,308,952   $ 8.99    9.01   $ 84  
Exercisable, March 31, 2022   2,004,500   $ 8.60    8.47   $ 84  
Vested and expected to vest, March 31, 2022   4,308,952   $ 8.99    9.01   $ 84  
 

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of the 
Company’s common stock for those stock options that had exercise prices lower than the fair value of the Company’s common stock. 

As of March 31, 2022, there was $28.4 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options which is 
estimated to be recognized over a period of 2.85 years. 

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock units ("RSUs") granted to employees under the plans generally vest over four years. The number of shares issued on the date the 
RSUs vest is net of the minimum statutory tax withholdings, which are paid in cash to the appropriate taxing authorities on behalf of the Company’s 
employees. The Company recognizes the stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the individual grantees, which generally 
equals the vesting period.
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The following table summarizes the RSU activity for all stock plans during the three months ended March 31, 2022: 
 

  
Number
of Shares   

Grant-Date
Fair Value  

Unvested restricted stock as of December 31, 2021   —   $ —  
Granted   82,450    3.63  
Forfeited   (7,620 )   3.44  
Unvested restricted stock as of March 31, 2022   74,830   $ 3.65  

 
As of March 31, 2022, there was $0.3 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock which is estimated to be 

recognized over a period of 3.77 years. 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense 

 The Company estimated the fair value of options granted and rights to acquire stock granted under the Company’s employee stock purchase plan 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions presented on a weighted average basis:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2022   2021  

Stock Option Plans       
Expected term (years)   6.08    5.95  
Expected volatility   73.51 %   66.70 %
Risk-free interest rate   1.63 %   0.76 %
Fair value of underlying common stock  $ 5.78   $ 20.13  
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share  $ 3.78   $ 11.94  

Employee Stock Purchase Plans       
Expected term (years)   0.75    —  
Expected volatility   60.82 %   — %
Risk-free interest rate   0.17 %   — %
Fair value of underlying common stock  $ 6.53   $ —  
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share  $ 2.33   $ —  

 
Stock-based compensation expense was classified in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as follows: 

 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

(in thousands)  2022   2021  
Research and development expense  $ 770   $ 482  
General and administrative expense   1,974    1,350  
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 2,744   $ 1,832  
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7.       Assignment, License and Collaboration Agreements 

License Agreements 

TERN-101 License Agreement with Eli Lilly 

In February 2018, the Company entered a worldwide exclusive license agreement with Eli Lilly and Company (Lilly) (Lilly FXR 2018 License 
Agreement). Under the terms of the Lilly FXR 2018 License Agreement, Lilly granted the Company an exclusive, royalty-bearing license to make, have 
made, use, offer for sale, sell, import, and have imported, including all rights to develop, manufacture, and commercialize covered products in the field in 
the territory and a sublicensing right that allows the Company to grant sublicenses to affiliates and third parties to perform any portion of the development, 
manufacture, and commercialization of covered products. The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to meet development event 
milestones, develop the covered product in the field in mainland China and commercialize the covered product in the field in mainland China. 

The Company agreed to pay Lilly up to an aggregate of $6.0 million in pre-specified development milestones for the first covered product in 
mainland China, and up to an aggregate of $50.0 million in pre-specified development milestones for the first covered product in ex-mainland China. The 
Company also agreed to pay Lilly tiered royalties calculated on a calendar year basis, in the mid-single digits to low teens on net sales ranging from the low 
hundreds of millions of dollars to the low billions of dollars. The Lilly FXR 2018 License Agreement expires upon expiry of the last remaining royalty 
obligation for a licensed product. As of March 31, 2022, the Company has not paid any amounts under the agreement and no milestones have been 
achieved. The Company has not recorded any research and development expense during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 related to this 
agreement. 

TERN-201 License Agreement with Eli Lilly 

In March 2018, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Lilly (Lilly VAP-1 2018 License Agreement). Under the terms of the 
Lilly VAP-1 2018 License Agreement, Lilly granted the Company an exclusive, royalty-bearing license to make, have made, use, offer for sale, sell, 
import, and have imported, including all rights to develop, manufacture, and commercialize covered products and a sublicensing right that allows the 
Company to grant sublicenses to affiliates and third parties to perform any portion of the development, manufacture, and commercialization of covered 
products. The Company will remain directly responsible for all amounts owed to Lilly, regardless of sublicenses. The Company is required to use 
commercially reasonable efforts to meet development events according to achievement due dates and commercialize the covered product in the field in the 
major markets. 

The Company paid Lilly a non-refundable, non-creditable upfront payment of $4.0 million, which was recorded as research and development 
expense in the Company’s statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2018. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the 
Lilly VAP-1 2018 License Agreement, the Company agreed to pay Lilly up to an aggregate of $74.0 million in pre-specified development milestones for 
the first covered product, and up to an aggregate of $30.0 million in pre-specified development milestones for the second indication of a covered product. 
The Company must also pay Lilly tiered royalties calculated on a calendar year basis, in the mid-single digits to mid-teens on net sales ranging from the 
high tens of millions of dollars to the low billions of dollars. The Lilly VAP-1 2018 License Agreement expires upon expiry of the last remaining royalty 
obligation for a licensed product. As of March 31, 2022, the Company has paid $4.0 million to Lilly. No development milestones have been met as of 
March 31, 2022. The Company has not recorded any research and development expense during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 related to 
this agreement. 

Assignment Agreement 

In June 2019, the Company entered into an assignment agreement with Vintagence Biotechnology Ltd. (Vintagence) (Vintagence 2019 Assignment 
Agreement). Under the terms of the Vintagence 2019 Assignment Agreement, Vintagence assigned and agreed to assign to the Company any and all 
worldwide rights, title, and interest in and to the Vintagence technology and gave Terns a sublicensing right that allows the Company to grant sublicenses to 
any of its affiliates and/or to licensees or contractors to perform any portion of the development, manufacture, and/or commercialization of covered 
compounds or covered products. The Company will remain directly responsible for all amounts owed to Vintagence under this agreement, regardless of 
sublicenses. The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to commercialize the covered product in the field in the major markets. 
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The Company paid Vintagence a non-refundable, non-creditable upfront payment of $0.7 million, which was recorded as research and development 
expense in the Company’s statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the 
Vintagence 2019 Assignment Agreement, the Company agreed to pay Vintagence up to CNY 205.0 million in development milestones for the first covered 
product. The term of the Vintagence 2019 Assignment Agreement will continue in effect on a country-by-country basis until all milestone payments are 
made. The Company has the right to terminate the agreement in its entirety or on a covered product-by-covered product and country-by-country basis, in its 
sole discretion by giving 60 days advance written notice to Vintagence. As of March 31, 2022, the Company has paid $2.2 million to Vintagence which 
includes a milestone payment of $1.5 million in connection with the Company’s IND filing for TERN-501 in December 2020. The Company has not 
recognized any research and development expense during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to this agreement. 

Hansoh Option and License Agreement 

In July 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive option and license agreement with Hansoh (Shanghai) Healthtech Co., Ltd. (Hansoh 
Healthtech) and Jiangsu Hansoh Pharmaceutical Group Company Ltd. (Jiangsu Hansoh) (collectively, Hansoh) (Hansoh 2020 Option and License 
Agreement). Under the terms of the Hansoh 2020 Option and License Agreement, the Company granted Hansoh an exclusive, non-transferable, non-
sublicensable, fully-paid, royalty-free license to conduct preliminary studies on the licensed compound (TERN-701, formerly known as TRN-000632) with 
an option to exclusively license the same for development and commercialization of licensed products in all prophylactic, palliative, therapeutic and/or 
diagnostic uses in connection with all human diseases and disorders (including development and research activities on animal models thereof) in the field 
of oncology, including all types of cancers (Field) in mainland China, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau (collectively, the Territory). In November 2021, 
Hansoh exercised its option and was granted an exclusive, royalty-bearing license, with the right to sublicense to exploit licensed compound and licensed 
products in the Field and in the Territory. 

Under the Hansoh 2020 Option and License Agreement, Hansoh was required to pay the Company a refundable, non-creditable upfront payment. 
The Company received an upfront payment of $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020, which was recognized as a refund liability and 
presented within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020. In connection with Hansoh’s 
exercise of its option in November 2021, the Company recognized $1.0 million in license fee revenue within the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2021.

In addition, pursuant to the Hansoh 2020 Option and License Agreement, Hansoh has agreed to pay the Company up to $67.0 million in pre-
specified clinical, regulatory and sales milestones. Hansoh must also pay the Company royalties in the mid-single digits based on net sales of all licensed 
products. The term of the Hansoh 2020 Option and License Agreement will continue until the end of the last-to-expire royalty term. As of March 31, 2022, 
no milestones have been met and future payments are all constrained.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated 
financial statements and related notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was filed with 
the SEC on March 7, 2022. In addition to historical financial information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current 
expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of various factors, including those set forth under “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our fiscal year ends on December 31 each year.

Overview 

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a portfolio of small-molecule single-agent and combination therapy candidates to 
address serious diseases such as non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), obesity and cancer. Our programs are based on mechanisms of action that have 
achieved proof-of-concept in clinical trials. Thyroid Hormone Receptor beta, or THR-β, agonism and farnesoid X receptor, or FXR, agonism are 
mechanisms of action targeted by other drug candidates that have achieved clinical proof-of-concept in NASH clinical trials by demonstrating significant 
improvements on relevant biomarkers, though no drug has been approved for the treatment of NASH in the United States or Europe. In addition to our drug 
candidates for NASH, we have an oral small-molecule glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor (GLP-1R) agonist in pre-clinical development that we intend to 
develop for metabolic diseases such as obesity and an allosteric BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) that is in development in China for chronic 
myeloid leukemia, or CML, a form of cancer that starts in bone marrow. Beyond NASH, obesity and cancer, we plan to explore other indications with high 
unmet need using our pipeline drug candidates.

TERN-501 is a THR-β agonist with high metabolic stability, enhanced liver distribution and greater selectivity for THR-β compared to other THR-β 
agonists in development. In November 2021, we announced positive top-line data from a Phase 1 clinical trial of TERN-501 in healthy volunteers with 
mildly elevated low-density lipoprotein, or LDL, cholesterol. This Phase 1 trial included single ascending dose (SAD), multiple ascending dose (MAD) and 
drug-drug interaction (DDI) cohorts evaluating the safety, tolerability, pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of TERN-501. In the SAD and MAD 
cohorts, single and multiple doses of TERN-501 were generally well-tolerated with a similar incidence of adverse events (AEs) across all TERN-501 
treatment groups and placebo. All AEs were mild to moderate with no apparent dose relationship, with no treatment-emergent serious AEs and no 
discontinuations of study or study drug due to any AE. There were no cardiac safety signals, no incidence of diarrhea and no differences between TERN-
501 groups and placebo in change from baseline in heart rate, blood pressure or other vital signs. Thyroid function test results were consistent with THR-β 
agonists currently in clinical development, and there were no findings of clinical hyper- or hypo-thyroidism. There were no differences between placebo 
and any TERN-501 dose group in liver function abnormalities or mean change from baseline in liver transaminases at Day 15 in the MAD cohorts. TERN-
501 demonstrated a predictable pharmacokinetic profile with low variability: study drug plasma exposures were linear and approximately dose-proportional 
with no overlap between dose strengths. Significant effects on sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), a key pharmacodynamic marker of THR-β 
engagement linked to NASH histologic efficacy, were observed following treatment with TERN-501. The SHBG increases observed with 14 days of 
TERN-501 treatment were significant, dose dependent and have been associated with robust reductions in magnetic resonance imaging proton density fat 
fraction (MRI-PDFF) and NAFLD Activity Score in a precedent late-stage clinical NASH trial. The overall pharmacokinetic profile from this trial indicates 
that TERN-501 is well-suited for co-formulation with other small-molecule NASH agents as an oral, once-daily fixed dose combination. In the DDI cohort, 
the combination of TERN-501 and TERN-101, our liver-distributed, non-bile acid FXR agonist, was well-tolerated. Preliminary pharmacokinetic results 
support the co-administration of TERN-501 and TERN-101 in NASH patients, with no apparent need for dose adjustment. 

In April 2022, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) cleared our investigational new drug (IND) application for our clinical-stage 
combination therapy candidates in NASH, including combinations of TERN-501 and TERN-101 as well as future studies of other combination therapy 
regimens. Under the IND, we are proceeding with a multicenter randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2a clinical trial in noncirrhotic NASH 
patients using a factorial design, which includes both monotherapy and combination arms of TERN-501 and TERN-101. The Phase 2a trial is expected to 
enroll approximately 140 adult patients with elevated body mass index (BMI ≥ 25 kg/m2) and NASH with fibrosis, but not cirrhosis, based on prior liver 
biopsy and/or imaging criteria and clinical criteria. All patients must have liver fat content measured by MRI-PDFF of ≥10%, MRI corrected T1 (cT1) 
relaxation time of ≥ 800 msec, and meet other inclusion and exclusion criteria.  The clinical trial includes a 12-week treatment period and a 4-week follow-
up period.  The primary endpoint will be the relative change from baseline in MRI-PDFF at Week 12 for TERN-501 monotherapy compared with placebo. 
Secondary endpoints include assessment of changes in PDFF (combination vs. placebo) and cT1 (TERN-501 monotherapy vs. placebo as well as TERN-
501 and TERN-101 combination vs. placebo). We have initiated the trial, with screening expected to start in June 2022 and top-line data expected in the 
second half of 2023. The Phase 2a trial design is illustrated in the figure below:
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We are also developing an oral small-molecule glucagon-like peptide-1, or GLP-1R, agonist for the treatment of obesity. Obesity represents a large 
unmet medical need, with recent studies estimating the aggregate U.S. national cost of obesity to exceed $260 billion. While approximately 50% of 
Americans meet the criteria for medical obesity, only 2% of adults receive therapies for weight loss. GLP-1 offers multiple benefits including increased 
insulin secretion by the pancreas, reduced glucagon secretion in the liver, slowed gastric emptying into the gut, increased sense of satiety in the brain and 
reduced inflammation. Synthetic GLP-1 peptides have been approved for obesity and diabetes, which are conditions often accompanying NASH. A 
recently approved GLP-1 peptide, semaglutide (Wegovy), appears to be expanding the primary care market for obesity treatment, as 75% of Wegovy 
patients are receiving anti-obesity medication for the first time. However, approved synthetic GLP-1 peptides are biologic molecules with complex 
manufacturing processes and may require higher doses for weight loss or NASH treatment than for management of diabetes, frequent subcutaneous 
injections, and titration or drug holidays, for management of their poor tolerability profiles. These barriers are likely to limit their widespread use in the 
treatment of obesity and NASH, particularly if efficacious oral treatments become available. We aim to develop a small molecule, orally administered 
GLP-1R agonist with a convenient oral dosing schedule for the treatment of obesity. Our GLP-1R agonist program has screened more than 20,000 
molecular permutations through our proprietary quantitative structure activity relationship (QSAR) model to identify several potentially suitable small-
molecule scaffolds with potentially improved properties relative to other GLP-1-based approaches. We have optimized these series of compounds and 
identified structures that we believe are suitable for oral administration as a single-agent or in combination with other drug candidates within our pipeline. 
We designated a lead development candidate for our GLP-1R program as TERN-601 in the fourth quarter of 2021 and are conducting IND-enabling 
activities for TERN-601 with the goal of initiating a first-in-human clinical trial in 2023. We expect that the Phase 1 clinical program for TERN-601 will 
include a single ascending dose (SAD) trial in healthy volunteers and a multiple ascending dose (MAD) proof-of-concept trial in healthy volunteers 
assessing potential endpoints such as body weight and HbA1c.  

TERN-101 is a liver-distributed, non-bile acid FXR agonist that has demonstrated sustained liver FXR activation, as well as a favorable tolerability 
profile across multiple clinical trials. In June 2021, we announced positive top-line data from our Phase 2a LIFT Study of TERN-101 in NASH patients. In 
the LIFT Study, TERN-101 was generally well-tolerated with a similar incidence of AEs across treatment groups. There were no treatment-related serious 
AEs, and no patient discontinued TERN-101 due to any AE including pruritus. Multiple secondary and exploratory endpoints were also evaluated, 
including changes in liver fibro-inflammation measured by cT1, liver fat content by MRI-PDFF, pharmacodynamic parameters, and serum NASH 
biomarkers. We believe TERN-101 is the first FXR agonist product candidate to show significant improvements in cT1, an imaging marker of liver 
inflammation and fibrosis linked to clinical outcomes, in a 12-week placebo-controlled clinical trial. We intend to develop TERN-101 as part of a 
combination regimen with TERN-501. 
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TERN-201 is an inhibitor of Vascular Adhesion Protein-1, or VAP-1. In March 2022, we announced top-line results from Part 1 of the Phase 1b 
AVIATION Trial of TERN-201 in NASH. The primary safety endpoint was met with 10 mg of TERN-201 being generally well-tolerated in patients, with a 
similar incidence of AEs between the treatment group and placebo and all AEs being mild to moderate. While treatment with TERN-201 10 mg resulted in 
near complete (>98%) inhibition of plasma VAP-1 in most subjects, there were no meaningful changes in exploratory serum or imaging NASH biomarkers 
with TERN-201 10 mg relative to placebo, including cT1, as well as ALT, AST, GGT and CK-18. In light of the results of Part 1 of the AVIATION Trial, 
further spend for TERN-201 in NASH has primarily been limited to the completion of Part 2 (20 mg dose) of the ongoing AVIATION Trial. We plan to 
evaluate all AVIATION data to inform next steps for clinical development in NASH or other indications where VAP-1 is implicated. Part 2 of the 
AVIATION Trial is fully enrolled, with top-line data anticipated in the fourth quarter of 2022.  

In addition to our monotherapy and combination drug candidates for NASH and obesity, we have a potent, allosteric BCR-ABL TKI specifically 
targeting the ABL myristoyl pocket, known as TERN-701, that is in development for chronic leukemia, or CML, a form of cancer that starts in bone 
marrow. TERN-701 was designed with the goal of achieving improved tumor suppression against a broader range of mutations, an enhanced 
pharmacokinetic profile with an increased half-life and simplified dosing compared to the only available allosteric BCR-ABL TKI, recently approved by 
the FDA. We out-licensed TERN-701 to Hansoh Pharmaceuticals for development in the greater China region, while retaining all worldwide development 
and commercialization rights outside of greater China. TERN-701 is referred to by Hansoh Pharmaceuticals as HS-10382. In January 2022, the National 
Medical Products Administration of the People’s Republic of China granted a clinical trial notice (equivalent to an IND in the United States) for TERN-701 
tablets in CML. A Phase 1 trial of TERN-701 in CML patients in China has been initiated by Hansoh, with patient dosing currently underway. We intend to 
explore options for the development and commercialization of TERN-701 outside of greater China, including additional strategic partnerships.

Since the commencement of our operations, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to research and development activities, organizing 
and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, establishing and maintaining our intellectual property portfolio, conducting preclinical studies 
and clinical trials and providing general and administrative support for these operations. In May 2022, we announced the prioritization of our resources 
towards development activities related to TERN-501 (including the planned Phase 2a clinical trial of TERN-501 as monotherapy and in combination with 
TERN-101) and our GLP-1R agonist program, including TERN-601, and supporting our partner’s clinical development of TERN-701 for CML in China. 
We expect our cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2025, including key 
data readouts from our prioritized programs. 

We do not have any single-agent or combination therapy candidates approved for commercial sale, and we have not generated any revenue from 
product sales. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability, if ever, will depend on the successful development and eventual 
commercialization of one or more of our single-agent or combination therapy candidates which we expect, if it ever occurs, will take a number of years. We 
will not generate any revenue from product sales unless and until we successfully complete clinical development and obtain regulatory approval for one or 
more of our single-agent or combination therapy candidates. If we obtain regulatory approval for any of our single-agent or combination therapy 
candidates, we expect to incur significant expenses related to developing our internal commercialization capability to support product sales, marketing and 
distribution. 

We do not own or operate, and currently have no plans to establish, any manufacturing facilities. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third 
parties for the manufacture of our single-agent and combination therapy candidates for preclinical and clinical testing, as well as for commercial 
manufacturing if any of our single-agent and combination therapy candidates obtain marketing approval. We believe that this strategy allows us to maintain 
a more efficient infrastructure by eliminating the need for us to invest in our own manufacturing facilities, equipment and personnel while also enabling us 
to focus our expertise and resources on the development of our single-agent and combination therapy candidates. 
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The coronavirus disease 2019, or COVID-19, pandemic is rapidly evolving. The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact countries worldwide, 
including the United States and China where we have business operations. The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, operations 
and development timelines and plans remains uncertain, and will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak and its 
impact on our development activities, planned clinical trial enrollment, future trial sites, contract research organizations, or CROs, third-party 
manufacturers and other third parties with whom we do business, as well as its impact on regulatory authorities and our key scientific and management 
personnel. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and will depend on future developments, 
including the duration and/or severity of the outbreak, the impact of any resurgences and new variants that emerge, actions by the government authorities to 
contain the spread of the virus, the availability, adoption and effectiveness of any vaccines, and when and to what extent normal economic and operating 
conditions can resume. To the extent possible, we are conducting business as usual, with necessary or advisable modifications to employee travel and to the 
on-site and in-person activities of our personnel. We will continue to actively monitor the rapidly evolving situation related to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
may take further actions that alter our operations, including those that may be required by federal, state or local authorities in the United States and China, 
or that we determine are in the best interest of our employees and other third parties with whom we do business. At this point, the extent to which the 
COVID-19 pandemic may affect our business, operations and development timelines and plans, including the resulting impact on our expenditures and 
capital needs, remains uncertain.

Results of operations 

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021:

  
  Three Months Ended March 31,     

(in thousands)  2022   2021   Change  
Results of Operations          
Operating expenses:          

Research and development  $ 8,136   $ 8,735   $ (599 )
General and administrative   5,689    4,561    1,128  

Total operating expenses   13,825    13,296    529  
Loss from operations   (13,825 )   (13,296 )   (529 )
Other income (expense):          

Interest income   69    11    58  
Other income (expense), net   4    (13 )   17  

Total other income (expense), net   73    (2 )   75  
Loss before income taxes   (13,752 )   (13,298 )   (454 )
Income tax expense   (21 )   (39 )   18  
Net loss  $ (13,773 )  $ (13,337 )  $ (436 )

Revenue 

To date, we have not generated, and do not expect to generate for the foreseeable future, any revenue from the sale of products. We may generate 
revenue from pre-specified clinical, regulatory and sales milestones as part of an exclusive option and license agreement for TERN-701 in greater China 
with Hansoh Healthtech Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Hansoh Pharmaceutical Group Company Ltd., or collectively Hansoh.  

Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, for 
personnel engaged in research and development functions. Research and development expenses also include clinical and nonclinical development of our 
single-agent and combination therapy candidates.

The decrease in research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period in 2021, was due to a 
$2.0 million decrease in clinical program expenses primarily from the Phase 2a LIFT study, partially offset by a $1.4 million increase in personnel-related 
expenses due to higher headcount.
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General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, for 
personnel in administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include professional fees for legal, patent, consulting, investor and public 
relations, accounting and tax services.

The increase in general and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to the same period in 2021, was 
primarily due to a $0.8 million increase in personnel-related expenses due to higher headcount and a $0.3 million increase in expenses related to insurance 
and professional services consulting.  

Interest income 

Interest income primarily consists of interest income on our marketable securities. 

Interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was less than $0.1 million.

Other income (expense), net 

Other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2022 was less than $0.1 million of income, compared to less than $0.1 million of 
expense for the same period in 2021.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was less than $0.1 million.

Liquidity and capital resources 

Uses of cash 

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist primarily of research and development expenditures and general and 
administrative expenditures. Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the timing of when we pay these expenses, as reflected in the change in 
our outstanding accounts payable and accrued expenses. 

We expect to continue to incur net operating losses for at least the next several years. In May 2022, we announced the prioritization of our resources 
towards development activities related to TERN-501 (including the planned Phase 2a clinical trial of TERN-501 as monotherapy and in combination with 
TERN-101) and our GLP-1R agonist program, including TERN-601, and supporting our partner’s clinical development of TERN-701 for CML in China. 
As a result, we expect our existing cash and cash equivalents to be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditures into 2025, including 
key data readouts from our prioritized programs. However, we continue to anticipate that our research and development expenses, general and 
administrative expenses and capital expenditures will remain significant to support our ongoing and planned activities.

Sources of liquidity 

We have primarily funded our operations through proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock, convertible preferred stock and sale of our 
convertible promissory notes. We have devoted substantially all of our resources to research and development activities, organizing and staffing our 
company, raising capital, establishing and maintaining our intellectual property portfolio, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials and providing 
general and administrative support for these operations. 

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and we have incurred significant operating losses and negative cash 
flows from our operations. As of March 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $195.8 million, a net loss of $13.8 million, negative cash flows from 
operations of $13.3 million, and cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $151.3 million.

In May 2020, we received proceeds of $16.8 million from the issuance of convertible promissory notes, or the 2020 Notes, and a bridge loan.

In December 2020, we issued and sold shares of our convertible preferred stock for gross proceeds of $87.4 million (including conversion of the 
$15.0 million of 2020 Notes and effective conversion of the $1.8 million bridge loan, plus accrued interest). 
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In February 2021, we completed our initial public offering of 8,625,000 shares of our common stock, including the exercise in full by the 
underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares of common stock. The net proceeds from this offering were $133.0 million after deducting 
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.

In March 2022, we entered into a Sales Agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC, or Cowen, as sales agent, pursuant to which we have the ability 
to offer and sell, from time to time, through Cowen, shares of our common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 million in an at-the-
market offering. The shares are offered pursuant to our shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or 
SEC. There were no sales of our common stock pursuant to this agreement through March 31, 2022.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 
2025. We will need substantial additional funding to support our operating activities.

Future funding requirements

We expect to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future as we advance the preclinical and clinical development of our 
single-agent and combination therapy candidates. We expect that our research and development and general and administrative costs will remain significant 
for the foreseeable future in connection with conducting additional preclinical studies and clinical trials for our current and future research programs and 
single-agent and combination therapy candidates, contracting with CROs and contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, to support preclinical studies 
and clinical trials, expanding our intellectual property portfolio, and providing general and administrative support for our operations. As a result, we will 
need additional capital to fund our operations, which we may obtain from additional equity or debt financings, collaborations, licensing arrangements or 
other sources. 

Our primary uses of cash are to fund our research and development activities, business planning, establishing and maintaining our intellectual 
property portfolio, hiring personnel, raising capital and providing general and administrative support for these operations. 

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue the research and development of, continue 
or initiate clinical trials of, and seek marketing approval for, our single-agent and combination therapy candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing 
approval for our single-agent and combination therapy candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to any approved 
products, marketing, manufacturing, and distribution to the extent that such sales, marketing and distribution are not the responsibility of potential 
collaborators. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain 
substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would 
be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts. 

Identifying potential single-agent and combination therapy candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials is a time-consuming, 
expensive, and uncertain process that takes many years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing 
approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our single-agent and combination therapy candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. 
Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of single-agent and combination therapy candidates that we do not expect to be commercially 
available for many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate 
additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 

Cash flows 

Operating activities 

Net cash used in operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $13.3 million and consisted primarily of our net loss of 
$13.8 million as well as a $3.2 million decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities. This was partially offset by non-cash adjustments of $2.7 
million of stock-based compensation, $0.6 million of net amortization of marketable securities, $0.1 million of depreciation and $0.1 million amortization 
of operating lease assets. 

Net cash used in operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $14.3 million and consisted primarily of our net loss of 
$13.3 million as well as a $3.0 million decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities. This was partially offset by non-cash adjustments of $1.8 
million of stock-based compensation and $0.2 million of depreciation. 
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Investing activities  

Net cash provided by investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $9.5 million and consisted primarily of proceeds from 
the sale and maturity of investments of $34.2 million partially offset by $24.4 million in purchases of investments and $0.2 million in purchases of property 
and equipment. 

Net cash used in investing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $96.8 million consisting of a $96.8 million purchase of 
investments.

Financing activities 

There were no financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $135.2 million and consisted primarily of $136.4 
million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock upon the closing of the IPO in February 2021, partially offset by $1.0 million in payments of 
deferred offering costs and a $0.2 million net payment on loans payable.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and use of estimates from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2021. For a discussion of our critical accounting policies and use of estimates, refer to Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We are subject to several recently issued accounting pronouncements. Note 1 – Organization, Basis of Presentation, and Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies – Recent Accounting Pronouncements which is contained in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, describes these new 
accounting pronouncements and is incorporated herein by reference.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined by applicable regulations of the SEC) that are reasonably likely to have a current or 
future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

There have been no material changes to the information provided under Item 7A. "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" 
which is included and described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2022, management, with the supervision and participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed 
an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the 
Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosures.

Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control 
objective and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this 
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2022, the design and operation of our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We regularly review our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and 
increase efficiency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment. Changes may include such activities as implementing new, 
more efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes. There were no changes during the quarter ended March 31, 2022 to our internal 
control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of 
any such proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, as of March 31, 2022, we were not a party to any litigation or legal proceedings that, in the 
opinion of our management, are probable to have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings or claims can 
have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of resources and other factors, and there can be no assurances that 
favorable outcomes will be obtained. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. 
The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 may not be the only risks facing our company. Additional 
risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and/or operating results.

There have been no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 2021.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock
 

In February 2021, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, and issued an aggregate of 8,625,000 shares of our common stock at a price of 
$17.00 per share, including the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares of our common stock. We received net proceeds 
from the IPO of $133.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $10.3 million and offering expenses of $3.3 million. None of 
the expenses associated with the IPO were paid to directors, officers, persons owning 10% or more of any class of equity securities, or to their associates. 
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Cowen and Company, LLC acted as book-running managers for the IPO.

  
Since the completion of our IPO, our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. The offer and sale of the shares were 

registered under the Securities Act on a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333- 252180), which was declared effective on February 4, 
2021.

  
There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in the related prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant 

to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act. We invested the funds received in cash equivalents and other marketable securities in accordance with our 
investment policy.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

   Incorporated by Reference  
Exhibit
Number

 
Exhibit Description Form Date Number

Filed 
Herewith

         
 3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. 8-K 2/9/2021 3.1  
         

 3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 2/9/2021 3.2  
       

 31.1  
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   
X

       

 31.2  
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   
X

       

 32.1^  
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   X
       

 32.2^  
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   X
       

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document    X
       

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document    X
       

101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document    X
       

101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document    X
       

101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document    X
       

101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document    X
       

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)    X
 

 
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
^ The certification that accompanies this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, is not deemed “filed” by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
   

 TERNS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
   

     

Date: May 16, 2022
 
 

By:
/s/ Senthil Sundaram

  
 
   Senthil Sundaram

  
 
   

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

  
     

Date: May 16, 2022
 
 

By:
/s/ Mark Vignola

  
 
   Mark Vignola, Ph.D.

  
 
   

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Senthil Sundaram, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 16, 2022   By: /s/ Senthil Sundaram
      Senthil Sundaram

      
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Vignola, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 16, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Vignola
      Mark Vignola

      
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 
 



 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2022 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.

 
Date: May 16, 2022   By: /s/ Senthil Sundaram
      Senthil Sundaram

      
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
 



 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Terns Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2022 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.

 
Date: May 16, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Vignola
      Mark Vignola

      
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
 
 




